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SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
The Shareholders and Board of Directors 
SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION 
Unit 1203 East Tower, PSE Centre, 
Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, 
Pasig City 
 
 
 
We have examined the financial statements of SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION for the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, on which we have rendered the attached report, dated April 29, 2024. 
 
In compliance with the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, we are stating that the said Company has a  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 
 
 
 
The Shareholders and Board of Directors 
SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION 
(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation) 
Unit 1203 East Tower, Philippine Stock Exchange 
Ortigas Center, Pasig City 
 
 
 
We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the financial statements of  
SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION (A subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation) as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2023 and issued our report thereon dated April 29, 2024. Our audit was made 
for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. Supplementary 
Schedule of Effective Standards and Interpretations as of reporting date presented as Annex 1 to the financial 
statements is the responsibility of the Company’s management. This schedule is presented for purposes of 
complying with the Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, as amended (2011) and further clarified by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission in its Financial Reporting Bulletin no. 16 issued on January 24, 2013, is 
not part of the basic financial statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly state in all material respects the financial 
data required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
The Shareholders and Board of Directors 
SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION 
Unit 1203 East Tower, PSE Centre, 
Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, 
Pasig City  
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION (“the Company”), which 
comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  
 
Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2.a(2) on non-full adoption of PAS 19 - Employee Benefits.  
The Company has seven (7) employees and provided accrual of retirement based on the provision of RA 7641. 
Management believes that it has no material impact to the Company and that with their number of employees, 
using RA 7641 as the basis of computing retirement obligations and benefits approximates actual liability. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards in Auditing (PSAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Philippines, the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
for accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosure, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a 
whole. The supplementary information on taxes, duties and license fees in Note 26 to the Financial Statements is 
presented for purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. Such supplementary information is the responsibility of management. The supplementary information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial statements. In our opinion, 
the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole. 

 

RAMON F. GARCIA & COMPANY, CPAs 
By:  

  

                

HONORATA L. PAGUIO 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 0078850  
PTR No. 10109963, January 25, 2024, Makati City  
TIN 105-540-683-000 
BOA/PRC Accreditation No.0207 (April 9, 2023 to October 5, 2025) 
Partner’s BIR Accreditation No. 08-001759-003-2023 (March 13, 2023 to March 12, 2026) 
Partner’s SEC Accreditation No. 78850, Group A (Valid for the audit of 2019 to 2023 financial statements) 
Firm’s BIR Accreditation No. 08-001759-000-2023 (March 13, 2023 to March 12, 2026) 
Firm’s SEC Accreditation No. 0207-SEC, Group A (Valid for the audit of 2021 to 2025 financial statements) 
 
 
Makati City 
April 29, 2024 
 

 

 



SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION
(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation)
Statements of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022
(in Philippine Peso)

Notes             Money             Money
            Balance           Long        Short             Balance           Long        Short

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash on hand and in banks 2c, 4 9,232,690              9,532,091         
Receivables:

Customers, net 2c, 5 8,991,047              106,537,149          9,656,148         117,167,607     
Advances to related parties 2c, 2r, 19 10,714,244            8,891,544         

Prepaid income tax 2e, 2q 565,476                 542,631            
Prepayments and other current assets 2e 385,175                 351,258            

   Total 29,888,632            28,973,672       

Non-Current Assets
2c, 6 40,800,000            40,800,000            37,920,000       37,920,000       

Property and equipment, net  2f, 2i, 7 14,428                   20,803              
Right-of-use asset 2g, 2n, 8 206,979                 811,351            
Trading right 2h, 9 1,462,500              1,462,500         

   Total 42,483,907            40,214,654       

TOTAL ASSETS 72,372,539            69,188,326       

Securities in Box, Transfer Offices and with Philippine Depository and Trust Corp. 362,574,650     410,562,411     

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Payables:

Customers 2c, 2j, 10 36,612                   215,237,501          798,493            255,474,804     
Accrued expenses and other payables 2c, 2j, 11 985,825                 1,078,580         
Advances from related party 2r, 19 1,375,861              671,932            

Lease liability 2o, 12 152,607                 658,376            
Deposit for future subscription 2k 2,500,000              -                    

Total 5,050,905              3,207,381         

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liability 2o, 12 -                         164,544            
Accrued retirement liability 2p, 17 577,431                 526,421            
Deferred tax liability, net 2q, 18 7,112,504              6,666,054         

Total 7,689,935              7,357,019         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 12,740,840            10,564,400       

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Authorized - 500,000 shares @ P100 par value per share 50,000,000            50,000,000       

2l, 13 50,000,000            50,000,000       
Accumulated losses 2l, 13 (21,708,301)           (19,740,142)      
Reserves 2l, 13 31,340,000            29,036,000       

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 59,631,699            59,295,858       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 72,372,539            362,574,650          362,574,650     69,188,326       410,562,411     410,562,411     

(see notes to financial statements)

2023 2022
Security Valuation  Security Valuation 

Share capital 

Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

 7 SINCERE-AFS2023



SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION
(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation)
Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
(in Philippine Peso)

Notes 2023 2022

Commission income 2m, 14 420,958                    579,455         

Dividend income 2m, 14 2,400,000                 2,640,000      

Cost of services 2n, 15 (2,697,976)                (2,353,826)     

Gross profit 122,982                    865,629         

General and administrative expenses 2n, 16 (1,844,334)                (1,903,007)     

Loss from operations (1,721,352)                (1,037,378)     

Other income (charges), net 2m, 2n, 14 (376,358)                   (2,200,523)     

Loss before tax (2,097,710)                (3,237,901)     

Income tax benefit (expense) 2q, 18
Current 770,419                    719,551         
Deferred (640,868)                   (255,988)        
Total 129,551                    463,563         

Net loss (1,968,159)                (2,774,338)     

Other comprehensive loss

Fair value gain (loss)  6 2,880,000                 (13,680,000)   

 Deferred tax benefit on fair value loss (gain) 18 (576,000)                   2,736,000      

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax 2,304,000                 (10,944,000)   

Total comprehensive income (loss) 335,841                    (13,718,338)   

(see notes to financial statements)
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SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION
(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation)
Statements of Changes in Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
(in Philippine Peso)

       ACCUMULATED

        LOSSES TOTAL

Balances at December 31, 2021    50,000,000        39,980,000         (16,965,804)      73,014,196 

Total comprehensive loss for the year                    -         (10,944,000)           (2,774,338)     (13,718,338)

Balances at December 31, 2022    50,000,000        29,036,000         (19,740,142)      59,295,858 

Total comprehensive loss for the year                    -            2,304,000           (1,968,159)           335,841 

Balances at December 31, 2023    50,000,000        31,340,000         (21,708,301)      59,631,699 

(see notes to financial statements)

    RESERVES
 SHARE 

CAPITAL 
Note 14 
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SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION
(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation)
Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
(in Philippine Peso)

Notes 2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax (2,097,710)               (3,237,901)       
Adjustments to reconcile loss before tax to net cash used
in operating activities

Depreciation - property and equipment 7 6,375                       6,375               
Depreciation - right-of-use assets 8 604,372                   604,372           
Interest income 4 (4,184)                      (5,589)              
Retirement expense 17 51,010                     126,112           
Other non-operating expenses 15 -                           589,063           
Interest expense 12 33,615                     69,091             
Provision for credit losses 5 662,684                   1,550,229        
Dividend income 15 (2,400,000)               (2,640,000)       

OPERATING LOSS BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES (3,143,838)               (2,938,248)       

Decrease (Increase) in Current Assets
Receivables (1,820,283)               484,391           
Prepayments and other current assets (56,763)                    (83,647)            

Decrease in Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other payables (854,634)                  (798,591)          

CASH USED IN OPERATIONS (5,875,518)               (3,336,095)       
Interest received 4,184                       5,589               

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (5,871,334)               (3,330,506)       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividends received 15 2,400,000                2,640,000        

NET CASH PROVIDED BY  INVESTING ACTIVITIES 2,400,000                2,640,000        

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in capital stock 14 -                           -                   
Advances from related party 1,375,861                
Deposit for future subscription 2,500,000                -                   
Repayment of leasing liability 12 (703,928)                  (703,928)          

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,171,933                (703,928)          

NET DECREASE IN CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS (299,401)                  (1,394,433)       

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT THE BEGINNING OF YEAR 9,532,091                10,926,524      

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT THE END OF YEAR 4 9,232,690                9,532,091        

(see notes to financial statements)
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SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION  
(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation)  
Notes to Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
(in Philippine Peso) 
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Note 1 – Corporate Information 
 
Sincere Securities Corporation (the Company) was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) on September 19, 1989 under SEC Reg. no. 168560 primarily to engage in the business of 
trading of stocks, bonds, debentures and other financial securities. 
 
The major shareholders of the Company are Alon Development Corporation and Sincere Holdings Corporation, 
which owns 70.44% and 29.56% of the Company, respectively. Alon Development Corporation is a diversified 
commercial company while Sincere Holdings Corporation is a domestic holding corporation. 
 
The registered office address of the Company is at Unit 1203 East Tower, PSE Centre, Exchange Road, Ortigas 
Center, Pasig City. 
 
The financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were authorized and 
approved for issue by the Board of Directors (BOD) on April 29, 2024. 
 
 
Note 2 – Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information 

   
The material accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are 
summarized below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
a. Basis of preparation 
 

1. Statement of compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with PFRS, which includes 
all applicable PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), and interpretations issued by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), Philippine Interpretations Committee 
(PIC) and Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) as approved by the Philippine Financial and 
Sustainability Reporting Standards Council or FSRSC (formerly Financial Reporting Standards Council or 
FRSC) and Board of Accountancy (BOA) and adopted by the SEC. 
 

2. Basis of measurement 
 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by PFRS for each 
type of asset, liability, income and expense. These financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) that have been measured at fair value, retirement obligation presented at present value and 
lease liability which is presented based on present value of remaining lease payments, discounted using 
the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. 
 
The Company is a holder of a secondary license issued by Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), 
thus the Company is considered as a publicly accountable company and is required to adopt fully the 
PFRS in its preparation of financial statements except for the use of closing prices for the valuation of 
equity securities as required by the Securities Regulation Code (SRC). PFRS requires the use of current 
bid prices for valuation of equity securities held. The difference between the last trade price and the current 
bid price is P 1,680,000 - (2022 - nil). There is no impact on the Company’s equity other than those already 
affecting the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Deferral of certain provisions of PAS 19 
 
The Company deferred the implementation of certain provisions of PAS 19 (Revised) particularly on the 
actuarial valuation of retirement liability. However, the Company is computing its defined benefit obligation 
using the provisions of the Republic Act No. 7641 (known as the Retirement Law). 
 
The management believes that the effect of the deferral of certain provisions of PAS 19 has no material 
effect on the financial statements of the Company. The Company has 7 and 8 employees as at December 
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 



SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION  
(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation)  
Notes to Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
(in Philippine Peso) 
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Other measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies that follow. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 

 
3. Functional and presentation currency 

 
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, the Company’s functional currency, and all 
values represent absolute amounts except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). 

 
b. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

 
1. Adoption of new and revised accounting standards effective in 2023 

 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that the 
Company has adopted the following amended standard as at January 1, 2023. The Company has not 
early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, adoption of these new standards did not have or are not expected to have an 
impact on the Company’s financial statements.  

 
 Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction 
 
 The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under PAS 12, so that it no 

longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. 
 
 The amendments also clarify that where payments that settle a liability are deductible for tax purposes, 

it is a matter of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether such deductions are 
attributable for tax purposes to the liability recognized in the financial statements (and interest 
expense) or to the related asset component (and interest expense). 

 
 An entity applies the amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest 

comparative period presented for annual reporting periods on or after January 1, 2023.  
 

 Amendments to PAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates 
 
 The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates and clarify the distinction between 

changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, 
the amendments clarify that the effects on an accounting estimate of a change in an input or a change 
in a measurement technique are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the 
correction of prior period errors. 

 
An entity applies the amendments to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting 
estimates that occur on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier adoption permitted.  

 
 Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies  
 
 The amendments provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to 

accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy 
disclosures that are more useful by: 

 
o Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a 

requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies, and 
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o Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about 
accounting policy disclosures. 

 
 Q&A No. 2022-02, Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 

Statement 2) 
 

This Q & A discusses how does a Philippine entity apply the amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2 with regards to disclosure of accounting policies. It also discusses other examples of 
disclosures of material accounting policies that illustrate the application of the amendments to IAS 1 
and the four-step materiality process to accounting policy information, in addition to the examples 
(Examples S and T) provided in IFRS Practice Statement 2, Making Materiality Judgements. 

 
The above Q & A was issued by PIC in February 18, 2022 and approved by FSRSC in March 11, 
2022. 

 
The adoption of this PIC Q&A has a significant impact on the Parent’s notes disclosures from 
“significant” to “material” accounting policies. Although amendments did not result in any changes to 
the accounting policies, it impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the notes 
disclosures. Management reviewed all accounting policies and made updates in the information 
disclosed in Note 2 (Summary of Material Accounting Policies). 

 
 Amendments to PAS 12, International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules 
 

The amendments introduce a mandatory exception in PAS 12 from recognizing and disclosing 
deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes. 

 
The amendments also clarify that PAS 12 applies to income taxes arising from tax law enacted or 
substantively enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two Model Rules published by 
the organization for Economic Cooperation Development (OECD), including tax law that implements 
qualified domestic minimum top-up taxes. Such tax legislation, and the income taxes arising from it, 
are referred to as “Pillar Two income taxes”, respectively.  

 
The temporary exception from recognition and disclosure of information about deferred taxes and the 
requirement to disclose the application of the exception, apply immediately and retrospectively upon 
adoption of the amendments in June 2023. 

  
Meanwhile, the disclosure of the current tax expense related to Pillar Two income taxes and the 
disclosures in relation to periods before the legislation is effective are required for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 

 
2. New accounting standards effective after the reporting period ended December 31, 2023 

   
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2024 
 
 Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
 Amendments to PFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
 Amendments to PAS 7 and PFRS 7, Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements 
 
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025 
 
 PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 
 Amendments to PAS 21, Lack of exchangeability 
 
Deferred effectivity 
 
 Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of 

Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
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c. Financial instruments 
 
 Financial Assets 

 
Classification and Measurement 

 
 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair 
value through OCI, and fair value through profit or loss. 

 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through OCI, it 
needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)’ on the principal 
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument 
level. 
 

  The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets 
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from 
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e., 
the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 
Subsequent measurement 
 

  For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 
 

 Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments) 
 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 

instruments) 
 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon de-

recognition (equity instruments) 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments) 

 
  The Company measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met: 
   

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method 
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognized, modified or impaired. 

 
 The Company’s cash on hand and in banks and receivables are included in this category as at December 
31, 2023. 

  
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments) (FVOCI) 

 
 Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity 
instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under PAS 32, 
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis. 
 
 Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognized 
as other income in the statement of comprehensive income when the right of payment has been 
established, except when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of 
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI.  
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Gains or losses on disposal of these equity securities are never recycled to profit or loss, but the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the statement of comprehensive income is reclassified to 
‘surplus’ or any other appropriate equity account upon disposal. Equity instruments designated at fair 
value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. 
 
 The Company’s investment in 240,000 PSE shares with fair value of P 40,800,000 is classified as equity 
instrument designated at fair value through OCI as at December 31, 2023. 

 
 Impairment of financial assets 

 
 The Company recognizes an ECL for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs 
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and 
all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or 
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 
 
 ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
 default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures 
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is 
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the 
default (a lifetime ECL). 
 
For cash in banks, the Company applies a general approach in calculating ECLs. The Company 
recognizes a loss allowance based on ether 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk on its cash since initial recognition. 
 
For trade receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the 
Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 
economic environment.  

 
The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 30 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal 
or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial 
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

 
Derecognition 

 
 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognized (i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position) when: 

   
 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
 The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of 
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to 
the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated liability. 
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 
obligations that the Company has retained. 
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Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Company could be required to repay. 
 

 Financial Liabilities 
 
  Classification and measurement 

 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss or other financial liabilities.  
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at FVTPL 
upon the inception of the liability. These include liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 
 
The Company’s payable and other liabilities (excluding statutory payables and contract liabilities) are 
classified under this category as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 

  Subsequent measurement 
 
  The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 
 
  Derecognition 
 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 
Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The 
Company assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset if the right is not contingent on a 
future event, and is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default, and event of 
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company and all of the counterparties. 
 

d. Determination and measurement of fair value 

 
 The Company measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that 

would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 
 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

 
 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company.  
 
 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 

when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair 
value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
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 The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the 
use of unobservable inputs. 

 
 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

 
 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable 

 
 For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis,  

the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by  
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole) at the end of each reporting date. 

 
 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on 

the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy. 

 
e. Prepayments and other current assets 
 

Prepayments includes prepaid insurance, prepaid interest from PFRS 16, and prepaid income taxes. 
 

Assets that are expected to be converted to cash within 12 months or to be realized, sold or consumed within 
the Company’s normal operating cycle are classified as current assets in the statement of financial position, 
otherwise, these are classified as non-current assets. Other current assets recognized by the Company include 
creditable taxes and input taxes. 

  
f. Property and equipment 
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, 
including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
property and equipment to its working condition and location for its intended use. Such cost includes the cost 
of replacing component parts of the property and equipment when the cost is incurred, if the recognition criteria 
are met. When significant parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, these parts 
are recognized as individual assets with specific useful life and depreciate them accordingly. The present value 
of the expected cost for the decommissioning of the asset after use is included in the cost of the asset if the 
recognition criteria for a provision are met. 
 
Depreciation of property and equipment is provided on the straight line basis to write off the cost or valuation 
of each asset to its residual value over their estimated useful life as follows: 
 

 Estimated Useful Life 

Office Equipment 5 years 
 
Depreciation begins when property and equipment is available for use and to continue depreciating until it is 
derecognized, even if in that period those items are idle. 
 
The depreciation method and useful life are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and periods of 
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and 
equipment. 
 
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until the assets are no longer in use. 
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The cost of repairs and maintenance is charged to statement of comprehensive income as incurred and 
significant renewals and improvements are capitalized. An item of property and equipment is derecognized 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income of such period. The 
carrying amount of a part of an item of property and equipment is derecognized if that part has been replaced 
and included the cost of the replacement in the carrying amount of the item. 

 
Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed 
the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable 
amounts. The recoverable amount of these assets is the greater of net selling price and value in use. The net 
selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction while value in 
use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset 
and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, 
if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount of an asset, however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation and amortization) had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is credited to current operations. 

 
g. Right-of-use asset 

 
The right-of-use asset is recognized at the commencement date of the lease. This is initially measured at cost 
which includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received and any estimated dismantling and 
restoration costs which may be incurred at commencement date or as a consequence of having used the 
underlying asset during the lease term. 

 
If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of the lease term or if the 
cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the lessee will exercise a purchase option, the Company shall 
depreciate the right-of-use asset from the commencement date to the end of the useful life of the underlying 
asset. Otherwise, the Company shall depreciate the right-of-use asset from the commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. 
 
After the commencement date, the right-of-use asset shall be measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities.   

 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets are computed using the straight-line method over the lease term. The lease 
terms are as follows: 

 
Category   Number of Years 
Office unit 5 

   
h. Trading right 

 
Trading right was a result of the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) conversion plan to preserve the access of 
stockbrokerage to the trading facilities and continue to transact business in PSE. The exchange trading right 
is an intangible asset that is regarded as having an indefinite useful life as there is no foreseeable limit to the 
period over which this asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the Company. The assessment of 
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite useful life continues to be supportable. 
If not, the change is useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

 
Trading right is carried at the amount allocated from the original cost of the exchange membership seat less 
any allowance for impairment loss. The carrying value of the trading right is reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in the circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment 
is recognized for the amount which is calculated at the higher of the asset’s value in use or its fair value less 
cost to sell. 
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i. Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

The Company’s property and equipment and right-of-use asset are subject to impairment testing. All other 
individual assets or cash generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, 
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease. 

 
When an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

 
j. Provisions and contingencies 
 

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources 
and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present 
obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has resulted from past events. 

 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the 
most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting period, including the risks and uncertainties 
associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an 
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. When 
time value of money is material, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values using a pretax 
rate that reflects market assessments and the risks specific to the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.   

 
In those cases, where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is 
considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no liability is 
recognized in the financial statements. Similarly, possible inflows of economic benefits to the Company that 
do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are not recognized 
in the financial statements.  On the other hand, any reimbursement that the Company can be virtually certain 
to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is recognized as a separate asset not exceeding the 
amount of the related provision.  
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility 
of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the 
financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
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k. Deposit for future subscription 
 
Deposit for future stock subscription represents the amount received that will be applied as payment in 
exchange for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments. It is classified as an equity item if there 
is sufficient unissued authorized capital stock, or if in case the unissued authorized capital stock is insufficient 
to cover the amount of deposit, (a) the BOD and stockholders have approved a proposed increase in 
authorized capital stock for which a deposit was received, and (b) the proposed increase was filed with the 
SEC as of financial reporting date; otherwise, the deposit is classified as a liability. 
 

l. Equity 
 
Share capital is determined using the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 

 
Revaluation reserve comprises of gains and losses due to revaluation of financial assets at FVOCI. 
 
Accumulated losses include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 
m. Revenue from contracts with customers 
 

The Company assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting 
as a principal or agent. The Company has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements 
except for its brokerage transactions.  

 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

 
1. Commission – The Company engages in stock brokerage wherein revenue is recognized on a commission 

basis. Commission revenue are generally recognized when control of the goods/services transferred to 
the customer. In the case of the Company, the control typically transfers at the trade date. Trade date is 
the time that the Company, as a broker, was able to buy (in a buying transaction) or sell (in a selling 
transaction) the shares in behalf of the customer. Commissions are computed for every trade transaction 
based on the percentage of the amount of trading transaction. 
 
Securities are valued using the latest closing price at period end for securities with trading transactions at 
the stock exchange or in the absence thereof, the closing price nearest the year-end and if there has been 
no trading for quite a while, the latest bid or asked price of the securities.  
 

2. Interest income - Revenue is recognized on time proportion basis, taking into account the principal, when 
it is determined that such revenue will accrue to the Company and presented net of applicable final tax. 
 

3. Dividend and other income - Dividend and other income are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income when the Company’s right to receive payment is established. 

 
n. Cost and expense recognition 
 

Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefit related to a 
decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 
 
1. Cost of Services (COS). Cost of services is recognized as expense when the related revenue is 

recognized. 

2. Operating Expense. Operating expenses constitute cost of administering the business. These are 
expensed as incurred. 

o. Leases 
 

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. Control over the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time is conveyed when, the customer has both of the following throughout 
the period of use: 
 
i. The right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset; and 
ii. The right to direct the use of the identified asset. 
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In identifying the leases, lease and some non-lease components shall be accounted separately under 
applicable standards. 

 
Company as a lessee 

 
The Company recognizes a right-of-use assets and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.  
The right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprise the initial amount of the lease liabilities 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying 
asset or the site in which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
 
The right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company 
by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use assets reflect that the Company will exercise a 
purchase option. In that case, the right-of-use assets will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying 
asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-
of-use assets are periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements 
of the lease liabilities. 
 
The lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its borrowing rate as 
the discount rate. 
 
The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external 
financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased. 

 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liabilities comprise the following: 
 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 

the commencement date; 
 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to 
terminate early. 

 
The lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when 
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in 
the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the 
Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if 
there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 
 
When the lease liabilities are remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use assets or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets 
has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases, including leases of cars and printers. The Company recognizes the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense 

 
p. Employee benefits 

 
1. Short-term benefits 

 
These are measured at an undiscounted rate and recognized as services are rendered. Other costs, such 
as annual leave, are recognized as the related services are rendered if the costs accumulate, otherwise 
the cost is expensed when the leave is taken or used. Bonus payments are only recognized when an 
obligation exists and the amount can be reliably estimated. 
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2. Termination benefits 

 
These are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal retirement date, 
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Company 
recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: (a) terminating the 
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or 
(b) providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

 
3. Post-employment benefits  

 
The Company has no formal retirement plan for the benefit of its qualified employees. The Company, 
however, is subject to the provision of Republic Act No. 7641 (Retirement Law). The law requires that in 
the absence of a retirement plan agreement providing for retirement benefits of employees in private 
sector, an employee upon reaching the age of 60 years or more but not beyond 65 years who served at 
least 5 years in private company may retire and shall be entitled to retirement pay equivalent to at least 
21.82 days for every year of service, or a fraction of at least 6 months being considered as one (1) whole 
year. 

 
q. Income taxes 

 
Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred income tax and current income tax not 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, if any.  
 
Current income tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating 
to the current or prior reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the reporting period. They are 
calculated using the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the 
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax 
expense in profit or loss.  
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

 
1. Where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or 

liability that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

2. In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the excess of minimum 
corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular corporate income tax, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and MCIT can be utilized, except: 
 
1. Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss; and 

2. In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

 
Deferred income tax asset is also recognized for Net Operating Loss carry over (NOLCO). 
 
Section 34 (D) (3) define NOLCO as the net operating loss of the enterprise for any taxable year immediately 
preceding the current year, which had not been previously offset as deduction from gross income shall be 
carried over as deduction from gross income for the next three (3) consecutive taxable years immediately 
following the year of loss. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax assets to be utilized. 
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting period. 
 
A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely that some portion or all of the deferred income tax 
assets will not be realized. Any change in the valuation allowance on deferred income tax assets is also 
included in the computation of the provision for deferred income tax for the year. 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting period. 

 
r. Related party transaction and relationships 

 
Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly, or indirectly through one or 
more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial 
and operating decisions.  Such relationships also exist between and/or among entities which are under 
common control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting enterprises and their 
key management personnel, directors, or its shareholders. Transactions between related parties are 
accounted for at arms’ length prices or on terms similar to those offered to non-related entities in economically 
comparable market. 
 
In considering each possible related party relationship attention is directed to the substance of the relationships 
and not merely legal form. 

 
s. Value-added tax (VAT) 

 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized, net of the amount of VAT, except when VAT incurred on a 
purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case VAT is recognized 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. 
 
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of "Other 
current assets" or "Trade and other payables" in the statement of financial position. 

 
t. Events after the reporting period 

 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the end of the 
reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end events that are not 
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material. 

 
 

Note 3 – Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 
 

The Company’s financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS require management to make judgments 
and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the notes to financial statements. 
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under circumstances. Actual results may 
ultimately differ from these estimates. 
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a. Critical management judgments in applying accounting policies 

 
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, 
apart from those involving estimation, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements: 
 
1. Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial 
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation technique 
that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable 
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing 
fair values. The judgments include consideration of liquidity and model inputs such as correlation and 
volatility. 

 
2. Leases 

 
Judgment is used in determining whether the lease terms will not go beyond 12 months and if it contains 
underlying assets of low value. In making such judgment, the Company evaluates the terms and conditions 
of the lease arrangement. 
 
Significant judgment was likewise exercised by the Company in determining the discount rate to be used 
in calculating the present value of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities due to absence of implicit interest 
rate in each lease contract. Discount rate used is the incremental borrowing rate. 
 
The Company presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in its statement of financial position.  
 
The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets are disclosed in Note 9.  
 
The Company presents lease liabilities in Lease Liability account in its statement of financial position. 
 

3. Classification of financial instruments 
 

The Company classifies a financial instrument, or its component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
agreement and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument.  
 
The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form generally governs its classification in 
the statement of financial position. 

 
4. Identification of performance obligations 
 

The Company identifies performance obligations by considering whether the promised goods or services 
in the contract are distinct goods or services. A good or service is distinct when the customer can benefit 
from the good or service on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the 
customer and the Company’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately 
identifiable from the promises in the contract. 
 
The Company provides stock broker services to its customers on a commission basis. The Company has 
no other services or any bundled goods, and variable consideration incidental in rendering its services, 
and therefore, brokerage services rendered is treated as a single performance obligation for each 
contract. 
 

5. Principal versus agent considerations 
 
The Company determines if it is a principal or agent in its transactions with customers. A principal controls 
the promised goods or service before the transfer of goods or service to customers. An agent’s 
performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of goods or services by another party. When an 
agent satisfies a performance obligation, it recognizes revenue in the amount of any fee or commission it 
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the other party to provide its goods or service. 
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In assessing the principal-agent considerations, the Company applies the necessary indicators as stated 
in PFRS 15. For 2023 and 2022, the Company concluded that it is a principal in its revenue arrangements 
except brokerage services. 

 
6. Provisions and contingencies 
 

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies.  Policies on 
recognition and disclosure of provision and disclosure of contingencies are disclosed in Note 2j. 

 
b. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the reporting, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 

1. Provision for expected credit losses 
 
Assessment for ECL on trade receivables. The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade 
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments 
that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by geography, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by 
letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance). 

 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company will 
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For 
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the 
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical 
default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and 
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analyzed. 

 
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions 
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of 
forecast economic conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic 
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. 
 
In relation to impact of ECL on the Company’s receivables, since the Company is a stock broker with 
secondary license, it is required to maintain an impairment loss consistent with the policy of its governing 
body, Capital Markets Integrity Corporation (CMIC), and hence, the management deemed that the 
impairment loss recognized by the Company under the CMIC policy is sufficient and that impact of assessed 
ECL is not material. Accordingly, no additional provision for receivables was recognized for 2023 and 2022 
audit. 
 
The carrying value of receivables from customers amounted to P 8,991,047 and P 9,656,148 as at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Allowance for Impairment losses on receivables from 
customers, as also shown in Note 5, amounted to P 3,089,424 in 2023 and P 2,426,739 in 2022. 
 
The carrying value of receivables from clearing house amounted to nil for both years. No impairment loss 
was recognized for both years presented. 
 
Assessment for ECL on other financial assets at amortized cost. 
 
The Company determines the allowance for ECL using general approach based on the probability-weighted 
estimate of the present value of all cash shortfalls over the expected life of financial assets at amortized 
cost. ECL is provided for credit losses that result from possible default events within the next 12-months 
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition in which case ECL is 
provided based on lifetime ECL. 
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When determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Company considers reasonable 
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort and that is relevant for the particular 
financial instrument being assessed such as, but not limited to the following factors: 

 
 Actual or expected external and internal credit rating downgrade; 
 Existing or forecasted adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions; and, 
 Actual or expected significant adverse changes in the operating results of the borrower. 

 
The Company has assessed that the ECL on other financial assets at amortized cost is not material because 
the transactions with respect to these financial assets were entered into by the Company only with reputable 
banks and companies with good credit standing and relatively low risk of defaults.  

 
Other financial assets of the Company include cash in bank, non-trade receivables and advances to related 
parties. 

 
2. Valuation of financial assets other than receivables 
 

The Company carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires the extensive use of accounting 
estimates and judgment. In cases when active market quotes are not available, fair value is determined by 
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated 
based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net base of the instrument. The amount of changes in 
fair value would differ if the Company utilized different valuation methods and assumptions. Any change in 
fair value of these financial assets and liabilities would affect profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  

 
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVOCI in 2023 amounted to P 2,880,000, (fair value loss 2022 -               
P 13,680,000) (Note 6).   

 
3. Estimated useful life of property and equipment 
  

The useful life of each of the Company’s property or equipment is estimated based on the period over which 
the asset is expected to be available for use. The estimated useful life of property and equipment are 
reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear 
and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the asset. Based on 
management’s assessment as at December 31, 2023, there are no changes in estimated useful life of 
property and equipment during the year. 

 
The carrying value of property and equipment amounted to P 14,428 and P 20,803 as at December 31, 
2023 and 2022, respectively (Note 7). 

 
4. Impairment of non-financial assets other than trading rights 

 
PFRS requires that an impairment review be performed when certain impairment indicators are present. 
The Company’s policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is discussed in Note 2i. Though 
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial 
statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect 
the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse 
effect on the results of operations. 

 
There is no impairment loss recognized on non-financial assets as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

 
5. Impairment of trading rights 

 
Trading rights which are carried at cost less any allowance for impairment loss. Impairment is recognized 
for the amount which is calculated at the higher of the asset’s value in use or its fair value less cost to sell. 
Exchange trading rights are reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying values may be impaired. The exchange trading rights are deemed 
to have indefinite useful life as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected 
to generate net cash inflows for the Company. 

 
There is no impairment loss recognized on trading rights as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
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6. Retirement benefits 
 

The Company’s retirement benefit cost is reviewed at every reporting date to reflect proper estimate based 
on the existing number of qualified employees and in accordance with R.A. 7641, otherwise known as The 
Retirement Pay Law. 

 
Under PAS 19, Employee Benefits, the cost of defined retirement benefits, including those mandated under 
R.A. 7641, should be determined using an accrued benefit actuarial valuation method or a projected unit 
credit actuarial valuation method.  
 
Management believes that the effect on the financial statements of the difference between the retirement 
benefit cost recognized by the Company and the retirement benefit cost that could be determined using the 
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method is not significant.  

 
Accrued retirement benefits as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 amounted to P 577,431 and P 526,421, 
respectively (Note 17). 
 

7. Realizable amount of deferred income tax assets  
 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax asset is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient deductible loss will be available to allow or part of the net 
deferred tax liability to be utilized.  

 
The carrying value of deferred income tax asset is P 763,892 and P 755,216 as at December 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively (Note 18). 

 
 

Note 4 – Cash on Hand and in Banks  
 

This account consists of: 
 

      2023 2022 

Cash on hand 25,210 25,210 
Cash in banks 9,207,480 9,506,881 
Total 9,232,690 9,532,091 

 
Cash in banks earn interest based on the banks’ average deposit rates. Interest income earned in 2023 and 2022 
amounted to P 4,184 and P 5,589, respectively. 
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Note 5 – Receivable from Customers, net  
 
This account consists of: 
 

 2023 2022 
 Money Security Valuation Money Security Valuation 
 Balance  Long Short Balance       Long Short 
Cash and fully secured accounts       

More than 250%  2,190,354 96,394,737 - 2,191,492 106,228,801 - 
Between 200% and 250% - - - - - - 
Between 150% and 200% 180 327 - - - - 
Between 100% and 150% 9,886,277 10,142,085 - 9,886,133 10,938,806 - 

       
Cash and unsecured accounts       

Less than 100% - - - - - - 
Unsecured 3,660 -  5,262 - - 

Total 12,080,471 106,537,149 - 12,082,887 117,167,607 - 
Less:  Allowance for        
          impairment loss (3,089,424) - - (2,426,739) - - 
 8,991,047 106,537,149 - 9,656,148 117,167,607 - 

 
This account pertains to the amount due from customers resulting from brokerage services rendered, including 
value of securities bought in behalf of customers, commission, and other charges on cash accounts. 
 
The Company’s receivables from customers were reviewed for indications of impairment. Allowance for doubtful 
accounts were recorded accordingly for impaired accounts. 
 
Details of movement of allowance for impairment: 

 

 2023                2022 

January 1                          2,426,739 876,510  
Provision during the year (Note 15) 662,685 1,550,229 

Total 3,089,424 2,426,739 
 
In 2013, a change in an accounting estimate on the provision for credit losses was made to effect the computation 
of Specific and General Provisions for overdue account in accordance with Schedule for Part 4 of SEC 
Memorandum 16 – 2004 as follows: 
 

Current (T+3 – T+13) -General provision of 2% of the total receivables – current 
Past Due (T+14 – T+30) -Accounts within this period are considered as doubtful 

-50% of unsecured accounts net of collateral 
Beyond 30 days -Considered as losses 

-100% of unsecured accounts net of collateral 
 
Allowance for impairment loss on receivables is being computed on a per customer or individual accounts.   
 
The collateral for the secured accounts represents the equivalent market value of shares pledged to secure the 
amount of securities and other property purchased or held by the Company for its customers. The Company is 
authorized to pledge, repledge or loan, either to itself or to others, from time to time and without need of notice to 
its customers for any liability which may exist in favor of it. It is further authorized at its own discretion and at any 
time to sell all or part of such securities and property without prior notice to the customers whenever in its judgment 
the liabilities are adequately secured.  
 
Consideration is also given if the shares are inside or outside PSE index. PSE index is composed of top largest 30 
corporations that are most active in trading. When a share of stock is within PSE index, the allowable collateral is 
equivalent to 75% of the total market value of a share of stock. However, if the stock is outside PSE index, the 
allowable collateral is only 65% of the market value of the stock. Providing haircut for the market value of shares 
is for the protection for the exposure of the brokers. 
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Note 6 – Financial Asset at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)  
 
This consists of the following: 
 

 2023                2022 
Investment in shares of stock, at cost 1,650,000 1,650,000 
Accumulated fair value gain 39,150,000 36,270,000 
Total 40,800,000 37,920,000 

 
The following are the movements of the investment in shares of stock: 
 

 2023 2022 
January 1 37,920,000 51,600,000 
Increase (Decrease)  in market value 2,880,000 (13,680,000) 
December 31 40,800,000 37,920,000 

 
Equity security mainly consists of investment in the 240,000 shares of Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). The fair 
value has been determined directly by reference to published last traded price in active markets amounting to                      
P 170 per share in 2023 and P 158 per share in 2022. 
 
Total fair value gain net of tax recognized in the statements of comprehensive income for 2023 and fair value loss 
2022 amounted to P  2,304,000 and P 10,944,000, respectively (Note 13).  
 
 
Note 7 – Property and Equipment, net 
 
This account consists of: 
 

 2023 2022 
Cost   

Beginning                 320,958                 320,958  
Additions - - 
Disposals/Retirements/Adjustments - - 
Ending                 320,958                 320,958  

Accumulated Depreciation   
Beginning                 300,155                 293,780  
Depreciation for the year                      6,375                      6,375  
Disposals/Retirements/Adjustments - - 
Ending 306,530                 300,155  

Carrying Value 14,428 20,803 
 
No additions were made in 2023 and 2022. Total depreciation recognized by the Company from its property and 
equipment amounted to P 6,375 (2022 - P 6,375), charged entirely to admin expense. (Note 16) 
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Note 8 – Right-of-Use (ROU) Assets 
 
This account consists of: 
 

 2023 2022 

Cost   
Beginning balance, as adjusted 3,222,216 3,222,216 
New lease contracts - - 
Ending 3,222,216 3,222,216 

Accumulated Depreciation   
Beginning 2,410,865 1,806,493  
Provision 604,372  604,372  

Ending 3,015,237 2,410,865  
 
Carrying Value 206,979 811,351  

 
Right-of-use asset pertains to capitalized office unit rented by the Company from its parent company.  
 
This lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Company to sublet the 
asset to another party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Company. Leases are either non-cancellable 
or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee. Lease contain an option to extend for a further 
term. The Company is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as security. At the end of 
the lease term, all improvements shall transfer to the lessor in accordance with the agreements 
 
Total depreciation for the year recognized by the Company from its ROU assets amounted to P 604,372 for both 
years of which P  423,061 (2022 – P 423,061) was charged to cost of sales and P 181,311 (2022 - P 181,311) was 
charged to admin expense. 
 

 
Note 9 – Trading Right 
  
This account represents the Exchange trading right of the Company with carrying value of P 1,462,500 for 2023 
and 2022. The market value of the trading right is P 8,500,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
Effect of the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) Demutualization on the Accounting Treatment of the Investment in 
PSE Shares of Stocks and the PSE Trading Right 
 
Under the PSE rules, all exchange membership seats are pledged at its full value to the PSE to secure the payment 
of all debts due to the other members of the exchange arising out of or in connection with the present or future 
members’ contracts.  Accordingly, the PSE maintains a Trade Guarantee Fund to ensure the performance of its 
members. 
 
The demutualization of the PSE, which was approved by the SEC in August 2001, has resulted in the conversion of 
the Company’s PSE membership seat into 50,000 shares of PSE common stock (with P 1 par value), as well as a 
PSE trading right.  The Company’s ownership of the PSE shares of stock is deemed legally separate from its 
ownership of the PSE trading right.  Accordingly, the PSE shares of stock can be transferred independently of the 
PSE trading rights without any restriction. 
 
On April 1, 2004, the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. prepared guidelines for consistency and uniformity on the 
values to use for the purpose of cost allocation of carried over investment in the Exchange from Membership Seat 
to Trading Rights and PSE shares by Trading Participants after the demutualization of the PSE.  
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The account exchange membership seat in the books of the Company was reclassified and changed to the new 
account titles “Trading Right” and “Available-for-Sale Equity Securities”, under non-current assets in the statements 
of financial position.  Below is the allocation basis: 
 
 Investments (under financial assets of fair value through OCI) – 53% 
 Trading right – 47% 
 
 
Note 10 – Payable to Customers   
 
This account consists of: 

 

 2023 2022 

  Money Security Valuation        Money Security Valuation 

    Balance Long Short     Balance     Long Short 

       

With money balances 36,612 16,388,376 - 798,493 69,448,900 - 

No money balances - 198,849,125 - - 186,025,904 - 

Total  36,612 215,237,501 - 798,493  255,474,804 - 
 
Payable to customers represents the amount due to customers arising from brokerage services rendered, including 
value of securities sold in behalf of customers, commission, and other charges. 
 
 
Note 11 – Accrued Expenses and Other Payables 
 
This consists of:                    
 

 2023 2022 

Accrued expenses and others 913,295 988,150 
Payable to government agencies 72,530 90,430  

Total 985,825 1,078,580 
 
Included in accrued expenses and others are dividend payable to customers, accruals and other liabilities. Accrued 
expense represents accruals for communication, transportation, utilities and professional fees incurred but unpaid 
as at year end which are expected to be paid within twelve (12) months after the reporting date. 
 
Payable to government agencies includes payables for withholding taxes, SSS and HDMF loan and contributions, 
and PHIC contributions. 
 
 
Note 12 – Lease Liabilities 
 
Movement of lease liabilities is as follows: 
 

Particulars 2023 2022 

Beginning balance 822,920 1,457,757 

Addition - - 

Accretion of interest 33,615 69,091 

Payments (703,928) (703,928) 
Ending balance 152,607 822,920  
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Lease liabilities are presented in the statements of financial position as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

Current 152,607  658,376  

Non-current -  164,544  

Total 152,607  822,920  

 
Maturity analysis: 
  

Particulars 2023 2022 

   Not later than 1 year 152,607  658,376  

   Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years -  164,544  

   Later than 5 years  -   -  
Total 152,607  822,920  

 
Payment of the lease liability in 2023 and 2022 amounted to P 703,929 and P 703,929. Finance cost on lease 
liability recognized by the Company in its statements of comprehensive income amounted to P 33,615 and P 69,091 
in 2023 and 2022. (Note14). 
 
 
Note 13 – Equity 
 
a. Authorized and subscribed share capital as at 2023 and 2022: 

 
 

 No. of Shares Amount 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 

Authorized share capital     

Common shares @ P 100 par value 500,000 500,000 50,000,000 50,000,000 
                     Total  500,000 500,000 50,000,000 50,000,000 

 
 
 

    

  No. of Shares Paid-up Capital 
  2023 2022 2022 2021 

Subscribed shares and paid-up 
capital 

    

Balance at the beginning of year 500,000 500,000 50,000,000 50,000,000 
Shares subscribed and amount paid  
during the year 

- - - - 

   Balance at the end of year 500,000 500,000 50,000,000 50,000,000 

 
b. As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has two (2) shareholders owning 100 or more shares each 

of the Company’s share capital. 
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c. Accumulated losses 

 
SRC Rule 49.1 Reserve Fund under SEC Memo 16 - 2004 states that every broker dealer shall annually 
appropriate a certain minimum percentage of its audited profit after tax and transfer the same to the 
Appropriated Accumulated Profits account in accordance with the following schedule: 

 
Unimpaired Paid Up Capital Minimum percentage or profit after tax to be 

placed in the Appropriated Retained Earnings 
  

Between 10 million to 30 million 30% 
Between 30 million to 50 million 20% 

More than 50 million 10% 
 

The rule further states that: 
 

 The amount appropriated shall not be available for payment of dividends; 
 Where in any financial year the Broker Dealer’s paid up capital is impaired, the Broker Dealer is required 

to transfer from the Appropriated Accumulated Profits to the capital account an amount equivalent to the 
impairment. Such amount so transferred out shall not be available for payment of dividend; 

 Consistent with the general usage under SRC Rule 28.1 (E) (v), the term “Unimpaired Paid Up Capital” 
shall refer to the firm’s Total Paid Up Capital less any deficiency in the Accumulated Profits account; 

 A Broker Dealer may submit to the Commission for approval its own capital build-up plan in lieu of the 
requirements of this provision 

 Notwithstanding the requirements of this section, the Commission may prescribe a different capital build 
up plan for all Broker Dealers, specifically those incurring net losses during the period, which may include 
the programmed infusion of fresh capital 
 

No appropriation was made as the Company has an accumulated losses balance amounting to                                       
P 21,708,301 and P 19,740,142 as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

 
d. Reserves on investments under financial assets at FVOCI 
 

Balance at December 31, 2021 39,980,000  
 
Movements 

Fair value loss – 2022 (13,680,000) 

Related deferred tax at 20% 2,736,000  

Subtotal (10,944,000) 
  

Balance at December 31, 2022 29,036,000  
 

Movements 

Fair value gain – 2023 2,880,000 

Related deferred tax at 20% (576,000) 

Subtotal 2,304,000 
 
Balance at December 31, 2023 31,340,000 
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Note 14 – Commission Income and Other Income (Loss), net 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commission income came from the Company’s stock brokerage services. This is accounted under PFRS 15. 
 
Net against the other income accounts is the other non-operating expenses which pertains to expired NOLCO and 
MCIT during the period (Note 18). 
 
Interest expense pertains to amortization of lease liability. 
 
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Company’s revenues from contracts with customers and revenues not 
covered under PFRS 15 for the year ended December 31, 2023: 
 

 
 
Note 15 – Cost of Services 

 
This account consists of: 
 

 2023 2022          
Salaries, wages and other employee benefits 1,784,229            1,548,800  
Depreciation - ROU asset (Note 8)                423,061                 423,061  
SSS, Medicare and Pag-ibig 149,622                126,333  
Communication expense 34,090                  44,903  
Transportation and travel 14,328                           -   
Others 292,646 210,729 
Total 2,697,976            2,353,826  

 
Commission expense represents the amount paid, aside from the regular basic salary, to an authorized agent who 
is an employee of the Company. 
 
Other costs include stock exchange dues and fees, Philippine Depository and Trust Corp. (PDTC) fees, and 
Securities Clearing Corporation of the Philippines (SCCP) expenses. 
 
 
 
 

 2023            2022         
Revenue   
    Commission Income 420,958 579,455 
   
Other income (loss), net   
    Provision for credit losses (Note 5) (662,684) (1,550,229)  
    Interest expense from lease liability (Note 12) (33,615)  (69,091) 
    Interest income (Note 4) 4,184  5,589  
    Other income 315,757  2,271  
    Other non-operating expenses (Note 18) -  (589,063) 
    Subtotal (376,358) (2,200,523) 
   
Total 44,600 (1,621,068) 

 
Services transferred at a 

point in time 
Revenues outside the 

scope of PFRS 15 Total 
Commission income 420,958 - 420,958 
Dividend income 2,400,000 - 2,400,000 
Interest income - 4,184 4,184 
 2,820,958 4,184 2,825,142 
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Note 16 – General and Administrative Expenses 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2023 2022            
Salaries, wages and other employee benefits 689,598                598,200  
Membership, association dues and other fees 221,340                221,340 
Depreciation - ROU asset (Note 8)                181,311                 181,311  
Communication, light and water 180,367                197,721 
Professional fees 136,000                103,500  
Taxes and licenses  90,301                  92,395  
SSS, Medicare and Pag-ibig 64,124                  54,143  
Office supplies 62,679                  27,462 
Retirement expense (Note 17) 51,010 126,112 
Insurance expense 39,372                  39,372 
Repair and maintenance 29,500                    5,000  
Transportation and travel 6,140 17,612 
Depreciation - property equipment (Note 7) 6,375                    6,375  
Bank charges 1,300                    1,100  
Other expenses 84,917                231,364 
Total 1,844,334 1,903,007 

 
Other expenses include petty cash reimbursements, stock exchange dues and fees, PCD fees and various 
penalties paid to CMIC and SEC. 
 
 
Note 17 – Retirement Liability 

 
The Company has no formal retirement benefit plan. The Company accrues all the retirement benefits of its 
employee in accordance with the provision of R.A. No. 7641. 
 
R.A No. 7641 mandates all private employers to provide retirement benefits to employees who upon reaching the 
age of sixty years (60) or more, but not beyond sixty-five (65) years, have served at least five (5) years in the said 
establishment.   
 
The amount of retirement was defined as “...At least one-half (1/2) month salary for every year of service, a fraction 
of at least six (6) months being considered as one whole year”.  The one-half month salary” was further defined to 
include the following: 

 
 Fifteen (15) days salary of the employee based on his latest salary rate; 
 Cash equivalent of five (5) days of service incentive leave; 
 One-twelfth (1/12) of the 13th month pay due to the employee, and 
 All other benefits that the employers and the employee may agree upon that should be included in the 

computation of the employee’s retirement pay. 
 
In compliance with RA 7641, the Company provides retirement liability as follows: 
 

  2023 2022 
Retirement liability – January 1 526,421 400,309  
Accrual during the year 51,010 126,112 
Retirement liability – December 31 577,431 526,421 

 
Additional accrued retirement during the year amounted to P 51,010 (P 126,112 - 2022) which are reported under 
general and administrative expense (Note 16). 
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Note 18 – Income Taxes 
 
a. Income Tax Benefit 
 

The components of tax benefit as reported in the statements of comprehensive income: 
 

Reported in profit or loss 
 

 2023 2022 
Current tax  
  
     Taxable loss at 20%  770,419 719,551 
   
   
Deferred tax  
    Reversal of provision for bad debts 132,537 310,046 
    Excess of lease payments over depreciation and    

interest expense (13,188) (6,093) 
    Accrual of retirement liability 10,202 25,223 
    Other adjustments - 134,387 
    Set up of valuation allowance for NOLCO  (770,419) (719,551) 
     Subtotal (640,868) (255,988) 
   
   
   

 Total 129,551 463,563 
 

Reported in other comprehensive income 
 

 2023 2022 

Deferred tax (expense) benefit relating to:   

      Unrealized (gain) loss on financial assets at FVOCI (576,000) 2,736,000 

Total (576,000) 2,736,000  
 

A reconciliation of tax computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax expense reported in the statements of 
comprehensive income is as follows: 

 

  2023 2022 

Tax on pretax loss at 20%  419,542 647,580 

Tax effect of:  

Non-deductible expenses (409) (121,573) 

Non-taxable income 480,837 529,118 

Set up of valuation allowance  (770,419) (719,551) 

Other adjustment - 127,989 

 Total 129,551 463,563 
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b. Net Deferred Tax Liabilities 
 

The net deferred tax liabilities relate to the following as at December 31: 
  

 
Statements of              

Financial Position 
Statements of  

Comprehensive Income 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 

     
Deferred tax assets     

Allowance for impairment losses  617,885 485,348 132,537 310,046 
Retirement benefits 115,486 105,284 10,202 25,223 
NOLCO – 2023 770,419 - - - 
NOLCO – 2022 719,551 719,551 - - 
NOLCO – 2021 454,435 454,435 - - 
NOLCO – 2020 485,392 485,392 - - 
Excess of lease payments over PFRS 16,net 30,521 164,584 (13,188) (6,093) 
Interest from prepaid rent pad in advance - -   

   Valuation allowance (2,429,797) (1,659,378) - (719,551) 
   Adjustment on income tax provision –    
   CREATE 

- - 
- - 

   Other adjustments - - - 134,387 
   Subtotal 763,892 755,216 129,551 (255,988) 
     
Deferred tax liability     
   Impact of PFRS 16 (DTL) (41,396) (162,270) - - 

Unrealized loss on financial assets at FVOCI (7,835,000) (7,259,000) (576,000) 2,736,000 
Subtotal (7,876,396) (7,421,270) (576,000) 2,736,000 

     
Net deferred tax liability (7,112,504) (6,666,054)  - 

 
During the year, DTA on NOLCO for 2023 amounted to P 770,419, and P 589,063 from 2019 had expired on 
2022. Such expiration was charged to non-operating expenses (Note 14). 2021 NOLCO will expire on 2026; 
2020 in 2025. 

 
Under Republic Act No. 8424, “An Act Amending the National Internal Revenue Code, As Amended, and for 
Other Purposes”, the net operating loss of a business for any taxable year immediately preceding the current 
taxable year, which had not been previously offset as deduction from gross income shall be carried over as a 
deduction from gross income for the next three (3) consecutive taxable years immediately following the year 
of such loss. However, pursuant to Revenue Regulation 25-2020 “Bayanihan to Recover as One Act”, NOLCO 
incurred in taxable year 2020 and 2021can be claimed as deduction from the regular taxable income for the 
next five (5) consecutive taxable years. 
 
Valuation allowance for NOLCO was provided by effective for year 2020. Management assess that the 
Company may not be able to utilize the NOLCO.  

 
c. Optional Standard Deduction 
 

Effective July 2008, Republic Act (RA) 9504 was approved giving corporate taxpayers an option to claim 
itemized deduction or optional standard deduction (OSD) equivalent to 40% of gross income.  Once the option 
to use OSD is made, it shall be irrevocable for the taxable year for which the option was made. 

 
In 2023 and 2022 the Company opted to claim itemized deductions. 

 
d. Enactment of CREATE 

 
On March 26, 2021, the President of the Philippines signed into law the Corporate Recovery and Tax 
Incentives for Enterprises (CREATE) Act to attract more investments and maintain fiscal prudence and stability 
in the Philippines.  The Republic Act (RA) 11534 or the CREATE Act introduces reforms to the corporate 
income tax and incentives systems.  The bill was published in a newspaper of general circulation on March 
27, 2021, and became effective on April 11, 2021, which is 15 days after its publication. 
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The key changes to the Philippine tax law pursuant to the CREATE Act which have an impact on the Company 
is that effective July 1, 2020, the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) rate is reduced from 30% to 25% for 
domestic and resident foreign corporations.  For domestic corporations with net taxable income not exceeding 
Php5 million and with total assets not exceeding Php100 million (excluding land on which the business entity’s 
office, plant and equipment are situated) during the taxable year, the RCIT rate is reduced to 20%. 
 
The income tax rate used in preparing the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022 is 20%. 
 

 
Note 19 – Related Party Disclosures 
 
The summary and nature of accounts with the related parties as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for the years 
then ended are the following: 
 

a. Key Management Personnel 
 

2023 
Nature of 

Transactions 
Amount of 

Transactions 
Outstanding 

Balance 
Remarks 

Officers / 
Directors 

Commission income 
from directors 

300,000 - 
3 business days after trade 
date 

 

2022 
Nature of 

Transactions 
Amount of 

Transactions 
Outstanding 

Balance 
Remarks 

Officers / 
Directors 

Commission income 
from directors 

300,000 - 
3 business days after trade 
date 

 
b. Alon Development Corporation (Parent company)  
 

Nature of 
Transactions 

2023 2022 
Remarks Amount of 

Transactions 
Outstanding 

Balance 
Amount of 

Transactions 
Outstanding 

Balance 

Advances made 
(Non-trade 
receivables) 

- 3,607,582 - 3,607,582 
Unsecured; Non-
interest bearing, to 
be settled in cash 

Advances from 
(Other payables)  

(703,929) (1,375,861) (671,932) (671,932) 
Unsecured; Non-
interest bearing, to 
be settled in cash 

Deposit for future 
subscription 

2,500,000 2,500,000 - -  

 
Deposit for future stock subscription 

 
In 2023, a deposit for future subscription received by the Company from Alon Development Corporation 
amounting to P 2,500,000. The company has yet to submit its application for increase in authorized capital stock 
to the SEC; hence the deposit remains as part of liabilities. 

 
c. Shareholders with significant influence over the Company 

 

Nature of 
Transactions 

2023 2022 
Remarks Amount of 

Transactions 
Outstanding 

Balance 
Amount of 

Transactions 
Outstanding 

Balance 

Advances made 
(Non-trade 
receivables) 

2,526,629 7,106,662 1,119,368 5,283,962 
Unsecured; Non-
interest bearing, to 
be settled in cash 
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The Management believes that all of the receivables are collectible, thus, no provision for impairment was 
recognized. 
 
The outstanding balances of receivables from related parties disclosed above are non-interest bearing and no fixed 
term. No asset was used as collateral. 
 
 
Note 20 – Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
 
The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks such as Market Risks, Credit Risk and Liquidity Risk.  The 
Company’s policies and objective in managing these risks are summarized below: 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices will affect the Company’s profit or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Company focuses 
on two market risk areas such as price risk and interest rate risk. The objective and management of these risks are 
discussed below. 
 
a. Price risk – The Company is exposed to equity securities’ price risk because of investments it holds at fair 

value.   The Company’s policy is not to engage in proprietary trading which is considered to be riskier and 
leads to more volatile profits. 

 
b. Interest rate risk – refers to risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 

interest rates.  The Company is not exposed in significant interest rate risk as its investments are non-interest 
sensitive, except for the bank deposits which are mainly short-term in nature and at market interest rates. 
Furthermore, the Company has no short-term borrowings which are subject to variable interest rates.  

 
Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or counterparty to perform its obligations.  This 
includes risk of non-payment by clients arising from their business operations, by employees of their loans and by 
related parties of their outstanding account balance. 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company’s activities may expose the Company to risk arising from price 
volatility which can reduce the client’s ability to meet their obligations.  To the extent clients are unable to meet 
their commitments to the Company, it may be required to purchase or sell financial instruments at prevailing market 
prices in order to fulfil the client’s obligation. 
 
In accordance with the industry practice, client trades are settled generally three (3) business days after trade date.  
Should either the client or the counterparty fail to perform, the Company may be required to complete the 
transaction at prevailing market prices. Individual clients maintain their securities position with the Company in its 
scripless form and are usually sufficient to cover debit balances.  The Company monitors concentration of credit 
risks and limits the risk through consideration of factors which includes the credit worthiness of the client, its 
financial strength, and the size of its position or commitments. The Company provides margin financing facility to 
customer’s subject to credit approval and is monitored regularly for compliance with margin limit and collateral 
requirement. 
 
Generally, the maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the financial assets as 
shown on the face of the statements of financial position (or in the detailed analysis provided in the notes to the 
financial statements), as summarized below. 

 

                        2023             2022 

Cash in banks 9,207,480 9,506,881 

Receivables, net 19,705,291 18,547,692 
Total 28,912,771 28,054,573 

 
With respect to credit risks from other financial assets of the Company, which mainly comprise of cash and 
receivables from related companies, the exposure of the Company to credit risks arises from default of 
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.  
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The Company did not have any significant concentration of credit risk.  
 
The Company has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as most transactions are denominated in 
Philippine Peso, its functional and presentation currency.  
 
Credit quality per class of financial asset 
 
The credit quality of financial assets is being managed by the Company by grouping its financial assets into two: 
(a) High grade financial assets are those that are current and collectible; (b) Standard grade financial assets need 
to be consistently followed up but are still collectible. 
 
The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial asset based on the Company’s credit rating system. 
A financial asset is past due when a counter-party has failed to make payment when contractually due. 
 

  
Neither past due nor impaired 

Past due or            
Individually 

     2023 

     High grade Standard grade Impaired       Total 

Cash on hand and in banks 9,232,690 - - 9,232,690 

Receivable from customers  64,432 8,926,615 3,089,424 12,080,471 

Advances to related parties - 10,714,244 - 10,714,244 

Total 9,297,122 19,640,859 3,089,424 32,027,404 
 

  
Neither past due nor impaired 

Past due or                         
Individually 

     2022 

     High grade Standard grade Impaired       Total 

Cash on hand and in banks 9,532,091 - -  9,532,091  

Receivable from customers  111,170 9,539,536 2,432,181 12,082,887 

Advances to related parties - 8,891,544 - 8,891,544 

Total 9,643,261 18,431,080 2,426,739 30,506,522 
  
The table below shows the aging analysis of receivables per class as at December 31, 2023 and 2022.  

 

 T to T+2 T+3 to T+13 T+14 to T+30 
Beyond 

T+31 2023 

Receivable from customers  64,432 - 139,520 11,876,519 12,080,471 
Receivable from clearing house - - - - - 
Total 64,431 - 139,520 11,876,519 12,080,471 
 

 T to T+2 T+3 to T+13 T+14 to T+30 Beyond T+31 2022 

Receivable from customers  111,170 43,547 8,994 11,919,176 12,082,887 
Receivable from clearing house - - - - - 
Total 111,170 43,547 8,994 11,919,176 12,082,887 

 
The Company continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified either individually 
or by group, and incorporate this information into its credit risks controls. The Company’s policy is to deal only with 
creditworthy counterparties. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s objective of 
managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Company’s reputation. 
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The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term 
liabilities as well as cash outflows due in a day-to-day business. Liquidity needs are monitored in various time 
bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling 30-day projection. Long-term 
liquidity needs for a 6-month and one-year period are identified monthly.  
 
The table below analyzes assets and liabilities of the Company into their relevant monitoring authority; monitors 
compliance with liquidity risk policy and maturity groups based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting 
period to their contractual maturities or expected repayment dates. 

 

 
On demand or 

less than 1 year 1-5 years 
Total 
2023 

Cash on hand and in banks 9,232,690 - 9,232,690 

Trade and other receivables 203,952 8,787,095 8,991,047 

Advances to related parties - 10,714,244 10,714,244 

Payables to customers (36,612) - (36,612) 

Accrued expenses and other payables* (808,574) - (808,574) 

Advances from related party (1,375,861) - (1,375,861) 

Lease liability (152,607) - (152,607) 
Net 7,062,988 19,501,339 26,564,327 

*Payable to government agencies were excluded from the balance above because they are non-financial liabilities, which 
amounted to P 72,530. 

 

 
On demand or 

less than 1 year 1-5 years 
Total 
2022 

Cash on hand and in banks 9,532,091 - 9,532,091 

Trade and other receivables 2,191,312 7,464,836 9,656,148 

Advances to related parties  8,891,544 8,891,544 

Payables to customers (798,493) - (798,493) 

Accrued expenses and other payables* (988,150) - (988,150) 

Lease liability (658,376) (164,544) (822,920) 
Net 9,278,384 16,191,836 25,470,220 

*Payable to government agencies were excluded from the balance above because they are non-financial liabilities, which 
amounted to P 90,430. 

 
The Company did not have any significant concentration of liquidity risk. 
 
Financial Soundness Indicators 
 
The following are the Company’s financial soundness ratio indicators: 
 

 2023 2022 

a. Current ratio 5.92 9.03 

b. Debt-to-equity ratio 0.21 0.18 

c. Asset-to-equity ratio 1.21 1.17 
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Note 21 – Categories and Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

a. Comparison of carrying amounts and fair values 
 

The carrying amounts and fair values of the categories of assets and liabilities presented in the statements of 
financial position are shown below. 

   2023                             2022 
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value 

Cash on hand and in banks (Note 4) 9,232,690 9,232,690 9,532,091 9,532,091 
Receivables, net 19,705,291 19,705,291 18,547,692 18,547,692 
Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 7) 40,800,000 40,800,000 37,920,000  37,920,000 
Total 69,737,981 69,737,981 65,999,783 65,999,783 

     
Payables*  4,978,375 4,978,375 3,281,495 3,281,495 

*Payable to government agencies were excluded from the balance above because they are non-financial liabilities, which amounted 
to P 72,530 and P 90,430 as of 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

     
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are approximately equal to their carrying amounts except 
for available-for-sale financial assets which changes due to fluctuation in investments quoted price. 

 
b. Fair value hierarchy 

 
The table below presents the hierarchy of fair value measurements used by the Company. 

           Level 1            Level 2             Level 3       Total 

December 31, 2023     
Cash on hand and in banks 9,232,690 - - 9,232,690 

Financial assets at FVOCI 40,800,000 - - 40,800,000 

Total 50,032,690 - - 50,032,690 
 

           Level 1            Level 2             Level 3       Total 
December 31, 2022     
Cash on hand and in banks 9,532,091 - - 9,532,091 
Financial assets at FVOCI 37,920,000 - - 37,920,000 
Total 47,452,091 - - 47,452,091 

 
The different levels have been defined as follows:  
 

Level 1 :  Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2 :  Other techniques for which inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are      

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i. e. derived 
from prices). 

 
Level 3  :   Technique on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 
 
 

Note 22 – Capital Management Objectives, Policies and Procedures  
 

The Company manages its capital to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements and adequately sustain its 
business operations. 
 
The Company’s compliance with regulatory capital requirement is monitored through the Risk-Based Capital 
Adequacy (RBCA) report which mandates the minimum capital level after considering the risk requirements 
associated with its business operations. 
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The Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations of the SRC effective March 6, 2004 include, among others, 
revisions in the terms and conditions for the registration and subsequent renewal of license applicable to both 
exchange trading participants and non – exchange broker dealer as follows: (a) to allow a net capital of P 2.5 million 
or 2.5% of aggregate indebtedness, whichever is higher, for broker dealers dealing only in proprietary shares and 
not holding securities, (b) to allow the SEC to set a different net capital requirement for those authorized to use the 
RBCA model, and (c) to require unimpaired paid – up capital of P 100 million for broker dealers, which are either 
first time registrants or those acquiring existing broker dealer firms and will participate in a registered clearing 
agency; P 10 million plus a surety bond for existing broker dealers not engaged  in market making transactions; 
and P 2.5 million for broker dealers dealing only in proprietary shares and not holding securities. 
 
Further, based on SEC Memorandum Circular No. 16 dated November 11, 2004, starting December 31, 2005, 
every broker dealer is expected to comply with all the requirements of the RBCA rules. As of December 31, 2005, 
the RBCA report is prepared based on the guidelines which cover the following risks: (a) position or market risk, 
(b) credit risks such as counterparty, settlement, large exposure (LER), and margin financing risks, and (c) 
operational risk. 
 
RBCA ratio of a broker dealer, computed by dividing the Net Liquid Capital (NLC) by the Total Risk Capital 
Requirement (TRCR), should not be less than 110%. NLC and TRCR are computed based on the existing SRC. 
NLC consists of total equity less allowance for credit losses, subordinated liabilities, deferred tax assets, revaluation 
reserves, deposits for future subscription, minority interest, if any, contingencies and guarantees, and the total 
ineligible assets. Also, the Aggregate Indebtedness (AI) of every shareholder should not exceed two thousand 
percent (2,000%) of its NLC and at all times shall have and maintain NLC of at least P 5 million or five percent of 
the AI, whichever is higher. 
 
The Company’s RBCA ratio as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, comply with the required RBCA ratio of 110% as 
shown in the table below: 

 2023                  2022 

Equity eligible for net liquid capital 61,367,806 57,688,777 

Less:   Ineligible assets 52,772,940 50,009,171 

Net Liquid Capital (NLC) 8,594,866 7,679,606 
   

Operational risk requirement 755,402 755,402 

Position risk requirement - - 

Counterparty risk requirement  39,912 7,911 

Total Risk Capital Requirement (TRCR) 795,314 763,313 
   

Net RBCA Margin (NLC-TRCR) 7,904,272 6,916,293 
   

Liabilities 9,628,871 11,508,633 

Less:  Adjustment to aggregate indebtedness 7,876,395 7,421,270 

Aggregate Indebtedness (AI) 1,752,475 4,087,363 
   

5% of AI 87,624 204,368 
Required net liquid capital (> of 5% of AI or 
P5M) 5,000,000 5,000,000 

Net risk-based capital excess/(deficiency) 3,594,866 2,679,606 

Ratio of AI to net liquid capital 20% 53% 

RBCA Ratio (NLC/TRCR) 1081% 1006% 
 
Net Liquid Capital (NLC) represents the Equity Eligible for NLC of a Trading Participant, adjusted for non-allowable 
current and non-current assets. 
 
Operational risk requirement pertains to the amount required to cover a level of Operational Risk.  Operational risk 
is the exposure associated with commencing and remaining in business arising separately from exposures covered 
by other risk requirements.  It is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 
systems which include, among others, risks of fraud, operational or settlement failure and shortage of liquid 
resources, or from external events. 
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Counterparty risk requirement means the amount necessary to accommodate a given level of its counterparty risk.  
Counterparty risk is the risk of a counterparty defaulting on its financial obligation to a trading participant. 
 
Aggregate Indebtedness (AI) is the total money liabilities of a trading participant arising in connection with any 
transaction whatsoever, and includes, among other things, money borrowed, money payable against securities 
loaned and securities failed to receive, the market value of securities borrowed to the extent to which no equivalent 
value is paid or credited (other than the market value of margin securities borrowed from customers and margin 
securities borrowed from non-customers), customers’ and non-customers’ account having short positions in 
securities, except those mentioned in SEC Memorandum Circular 16, Series of 2004. 
 
On May 28, 2009, the SEC approved the PSE’s Rules Governing Trading Rights and Trading Participants, which 
supersede the Membership Rules of the PSE. Section 8(c) of Article III of the said rules requires trading participants 
to have a minimum unimpaired paid-up capital, as defined by the SEC, of P 20 million effective December 31, 2009 
and P 30 million effective December 31, 2011 and onwards. In 2018 and 2017, the Company is compliant with this 
capital requirement. 
 
The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and to provide adequate return to shareholders by pricing services commensurate with level of risks. 
 
The Company monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity as presented on the face of the 
statements of financial position. Capital for the reporting period under review is summarized as follows: 
 

 2023                  2022 

Total liabilities 12,740,840 10,564,400 

Total equity 59,631,699 59,295,858 

Debt-to-equity ratio 0.21 0.18 
 
The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e., equity and financial 
liabilities. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risks characteristics of the underlying assets. 
  
No changes were made in the objectives, policies and procedures for both years. 
 
 
Note 23 – Significant Contract Commitment 

 
The Company house its operation on a leased space from its parent company, Alon Development Corporation.  
Lease agreement has an irrevocable term of 10 (ten) years from May 16, 2014 to May 15, 2024.  Under this 
agreement, the Company shall pay the lessor an amount equivalent to P 62,714 per month, inclusive of taxes. The 
rent due to the lessor shall be subject to an annual review two months before anniversary of the lease and the 
increase or decrease in rent is no more than 10% from the previous year’s rental charges subject to mutual 
agreement of both parties. At the end of the lease contract, any and all permanent improvements introduced by 
the Company into the leased premises shall pertain in ownership to the lessor and shall for part of the lessor’s 
property without the need of any reimbursement.  
 
Rentals paid in 2023 and 2022 amounted to P 703,929 for both years.  
 
 
Note 24 – Notes to Cash Flow Statements 
 
The Company had no material non – investing and financing activity related transactions for the years December 
31, 2023 and 2022 except for the following: 
 
1. Property and equipment 

 
The Company purchased property and equipment amounting to nil for 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

 
2. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

 
The Company paid lease liability amounting to P 703,929. Interest recognized amounted to P 33,615. 
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Note 25 – Reclassification of Accounts 
 
Reclassification was made in 2022 balances to conform with current year presentation. Advances from related 
party amounting to P 671,932 was reclassed from receivable to payable as there is no existing offsetting rights. 
 
 
Note 26 – Supplementary Information Required by Bureau of Internal Revenue’s Revenue Regulations  

 
a. RR 15-2020 
 

In compliance with the issued Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) Revenue Regulation No. 15-2010 (issued 
last November 25, 2010) “Amending Certain Provisions of Revenue Regulations No. 21-2002, As Amended, 
Implementing Section 6 (H) of the Tax Code of 1997, Authorizing the Commissioner of Internal Revenue to 
Prescribe Additional Procedural and/or Documentary Requirements in connection with the preparation and 
submission of financial statements accompanying the tax returns”, the following were the taxes, duties and 
licenses paid or accrued during the taxable year: 

 
1. Output Vat declared in the Company’s VAT returns for years 2023 and 2022 are summarized below: 

 
 2023 2022 
  Tax base  Tax base  Tax base   Output tax 

Vatable gross receipts 597,379 71,685 579,435 69,532 
 

Difference in receipts per financial statements and per VAT returns were due to the difference in 
recognition of sales of services. Sale of services per VAT returns was based on collection. 

 
2. Input tax claimed during the year 
 
 2023 2022 
Beginning balance  209,314  141,792 
Current purchases:     

Goods other than for resale -  -  
Services lodged under other accounts 509,297 61,116 1,056,199 126,744 

Adjustments:     
     Total output VAT closed against input VAT  (71,685)  (69,532) 

Total VAT payments during the year  10,310  10,310 
Balance at the end of the year   209,055  209,314 

 
3. Taxes on importations 

 
The Company does not have importations in 2023 and 2022. 

 
4. Excise tax 

 
The Company does not have excise tax in 2023 and 2022. 

 
5. Taxes and licenses  

 
 2023 2022 
Business license fees 56,946 60,555 
SEC 32,855 31,340 
BIR annual registration fees 500 500 
Total 90,301 92,395 
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6. Withholding taxes 
 

 2023 2022 
Withholding taxes on compensation and benefits 18,287 18,768  
Expanded withholding taxes 10,483 41,089  
Total 28,770 59,857  
   

7. Deficiency tax assessment and tax cases 
 

The Company does not have any deficiency tax assessment or any other tax cases outstanding or pending 
in any open years.  
 

b. RR 34-2020 
 

In compliance with BIR RR 34-2020 (issued last December 8, 2020) in prescribing Guidelines and Procedures 
for the Submission of BIR Form 1709, Transfer Pricing Documentation (TPD) and offer supporting documents 
to allow the BIR to verify that taxpayers are reporting their related party transactions at arm’s length prices, the 
Company is required to submit BIR Form 1709 based on the criteria set under the said revenue regulation. 

 
 



Schedule I 
 
 
 
 

47 

 
SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION 

(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation) 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN LIABILITIES 

SUBORDINATED TO CLAIMS OF GENERAL CREDITORS 
DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There are no liabilities subordinated to claims of general creditors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Schedule II

Assets 71,760,569.00                                 
Liabilities 9,628,871.00                                   
Equity as per books 62,131,698.00                                 

Adjustments to Equity per books

Add (Deduct):

        Allowance for market decline

        Subordinated Liabilities 

        Unrealized Gain / ( Loss ) in proprietary accounts

        Deferred Income Tax (763,892.00)                                      
        Revaluation Reserves (31,340,000.00)                                
        Deposit for Future Stock Subscription (No application with SEC)

        Minority Interest

Total Adjustments to Equity per books (32,103,892.00)                                

Equity Eligible For Net Liquid Capital 30,027,806.00                                 

Contingencies and Guarantees

Deduct:    Contingent Liability

                Guarantees or indemnities

Ineligible Assets

a. Trading Right and all Other Intangible Assets (net) 1,462,500.00                                    
b.  Intercompany Receivables

c.  Fixed Assets, net of accumulated and excluding those used as collateral 221,405.00                                       
d.  Prepayment from Client for Early Settlement of Account

e.  All Other Current Assets 10,023,881.00                                 
f.   Securities Not Readily Marketable

g.  Negative Exposure (SCCP)

h.  Notes Receivable (non-trade related)

i.   Interest and Dividends Receivables outstanding for more than 30 days

j.   Ineligible Insurance claims 

k.  Ineligible Deposits

l.   Short Security Differences

m. Long Security Differences not resolved prior to sale

n.  Other Assets including Equity Investment in PSE 41,065,153.00                                 
Total ineligible assets 52,772,940.00                                 

Net Liquid Capital (NLC) (22,745,134.00)                                
Less:

          Operational Risk Reqt (Schedule ORR-1) 755,402.00                                       
          Position Risk Reqt (Schedule PRR-1)

          Counterparty Risk (Schedule CRR-1 and detailed schedules) 39,912.00                                         
          Large Exposure Risk (Schedule LERR-1, LERR-2, LERR-3)

              LERR to a single client (LERR-1)

              LERR to a single debt (LERR-2)

              LERR to a single issuer and group of companies (LERR-3)

Total Risk Capital Requirement ( TRCR ) 795,314.00                                       

Net RBCA Margin (NLC-TRCR) (23,540,449.00)                                
Liabilities 9,628,871.00                                   
Add:  Deposit for Future Stock Subscription (No application with SEC)

Less:  Exclusions from Aggregate Indebtedness

          Subordinated Liabilites 

          Loans secured by securities

          Loans secured by fixed assets

          Others 7,876,395.00                                    
Total adjustments to AI (7,876,395.00)                                  
Aggregate Indebtedness 1,752,475.00                                   
5% of Aggregate Indebtedness 87,624.00                                         
Required Net Liquid Capital (> of 5% of AI or P5M) 5,000,000.00                                   
Net Risk-based Capital Excess / ( Deficiency ) (27,745,134.00)                                
Ratio of AI to Net Liquid Capital -8%
RBCA Ratio (NLC / TRCR) -2860%

SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION
RISK-BASED CAPITAL ADEQUACY WORKSHEET

December 31, 2023
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SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION 

(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation) 
INFORMATION RELATING TO THE POSSESSION OR  
CONTROL REQUIREMENTS UNDER SRC RULE 49.2-1 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 

 
 
 
Customers fully paid securities and excess margin securities not in the broker’s or dealer’s possession 
or control as of the report date (for which instructions to reduce to possession or control had been 
issued as of the report date but for which the required action was not taken by respondent within the 
time frame specified under SRC Rule 49.2-1): 
 
 Market Valuation      NIL 
 Number of Items      NIL 
 
Customers’ fully paid securities and excess margin securities for which instructions to reduce to 
possession or control had not been issued as of the report date, excluding items arising from 
“temporary lags which result from normal business operations” as permitted under SRC Rule 49.2-1: 
 
 Market Valuation      NIL 
 Number of Items      NIL 
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SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION
RESERVE FORMULA WORKSHEET

December 31, 2023

1 . Free Credit balances and Other Credit Balances in Customer Securities Accounts
Unadjusted trial balance amount 36,612.28 
A . Additions:

1.   Bank Account Overdrafts/1
2.  Credit balances in customer omnibus accounts
3.  Any other customer credit balance not accounted for elsewhere (explain nature)
Dividends Payable 249,285.78 
Others

Subtotal 249,285.78 

B . Deductions:
1.  Credit Balances in the accounts of non customers such as 3,878.14 
general partners and principal officers
2.  Credit balances in customers' cash accounts arising from the
sale of a security not delivered if the securities are purchased by
the broker-dealer for its own account and have not been resold

Subtotal 3,878.14 
Adjusted total line item #1 282,019.92 

2 . Monies Borrowed Collateralized by Securities carried for the Accounts of 
Customers

Unadjusted trial balance amount customer loan
Unadjusted trial balance amount commingled loan/2
Adjusted total line item #2 - 

3 . Monies Payable Against Securities Loaned
Unadjusted trial balance amount

A . Additions:
1.  The amount by which the market value of customers securities
loaned exceed the collateral value received from lending os such
securities

Adjusted total line item #3 - 

4 . Customer Securities Failed to Receive (as Determined by Allocation or Specific
Identification)
Unadjusted Balance:

A . Additions:
1.  The amount by which the market value by which fails to receive
outstanding for more than 34 calendar days exceed their contract
value/3
2.  Clearing Accounts with net credit balances attributable to - 
customers transactions.  (Clearing Corporations)
3.  Unsecured customer short positions which allocate to customer
long positions/4
4.  Any other credit not accounted for elsewhere in the formula

Subtotal - 
Adjusted total line item #4 - 
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5 . Credit balances in Firm Accounts which are Attributable to
Principal Sales to Customers/5

6 . Market Value of Stock Dividends and Splits Outstanding Over 30 
Calendar days / 5 / 6

7 . Market Value of Short Security Count Differences over 30 calendar
days old (not to be offset by long count differences)

8 . Market Value of Short Securities and Credits (not to be offset by loans
or debits) in all Suspense Accounts over 30 calendar days old

1.  Credit Balances Only
2.  Security Positions Only / 5
3.  Security Positions with Related Balances / 5 / 7

Adjusted total line item #8 - 

9 . Market Value of Securities in Transfer in Excess of 40 Calendar Days which have
not been confirmed to be in transfer by the Transfer Agent of the issuer during 40 days

Aggregate Credit Items 282,019.92 

10 . Debit Balances in customers' cash and margin accounts excluding 
Unsecured Accounts and Accounts Doubtful of Collection
Unadjusted trial balance 12,211,013.12 

A . Additions:
1.  Debit balance in customer omnnibus accounts
2.  Any other customer debit balance not accounted for elsewhere (explain nature)

Others
Subtotal - 

B . Deductions:
1.  Unsecured balances and accounts doubtful of collection 3,660.58 
2.  Debit balances in the accounts of non-customers such as
general partners and principal officers 9,886,276.55 
3.  Reduction of margin debits for undue concentration of collateral/8
4.  Deficits in customer-related omnibus accounts/9
5.  Debit Balances in accounts of household members and
affiliated members/10
6.  Reduction if unduly concentrated margin account balances/11
7.  Reduction of debit balances of accounts jointly owned by
customers and non-customers/12
8.  Reduction for partly secured cash accounts

Subtotal 9,889,937.13 
Subtotal of Adjusted Total Debits 2,321,075.99 

Reduce Subtotal by 1% 1%
Adjusted total line item #10 2,297,865.23 
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11 .  Prepayment from Client for Early Settlement of Account

12 . Securities Borrowed to Effectuate Short Sales by Customers and
Securities Borrowed to make delivery on Customers'
Securities Failed to Deliver

13 . Fails to Deliver oc Customer Securities not older than 30 calendar days (as
determined by Allocation or Specific Identification)

Unadjusted Balance
A . Additions

1.  Clearing Accounts with net debit balances attributable to
customer transactions (Clearing Corporations) - 
2.  Drafts receivable outstanding less than 30 calendar days
related to customer transaction / 13

Subtotal - 
B . Deductions

1.  Securities which are in the firm's physical possession and
control and in excess of the broker-dealer's possession and 
control requirements for three business days past settlement.
2.  Others (explain nature)

Subtotal - 
Adjusted line item # 13 - 

Aggregate Debit items 2,297,865.23 

B . Determination of Requirements
Aggregate Credit Items 282,019.92 
Aggregate Debit Items 2,297,865.23 
Net Credit/(Debit) (2,015,845.31) 
Required Reserve (100% of Net Credit if making a weekly computation
or 105% if monthly) - 

C . Frequency of Computation

Monthly, if:

-8%
AND

282,019.92    

D . Special Reserve Bank Account Balance

Special Reserve Account balance Prior to Computation
11,243.42 

Less:  Deposit Required - 
Additional Deposit Required

- 
Note:  Deposit should be made no later than 10 a.m. on the second banking day
following computation date.

Aggregate Indebtedness:  Net Capital Ratio < 

Aggregate Customer Funds < 
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SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION 

(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation) 
A REPORT DESCRIBING ANY MATERIAL INADEQUACIES FOUND TO EXIST OR  

FOUND TO HAVE EXISTED SINCE THE DATE OF PREVIOUS AUDIT 
DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 
 
 
 
We noted no matters involving the Company’s internal control structure and its operation that we 
consider to be material weakness. 
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SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION 

(A Subsidiary of Alon Development Corporation) 
RESULT OF QUARTERLY SECURITIES COUNT  

CONDUCTED PURSUANT TO SRC RULE 52.1-10 
DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 
 
 
 
There is no discrepancy in the results of the securities count conducted. Please see attached 
summary. 
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From: Sincere Corp [mailto:sinceresec.corp@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, April 30, 2024 10:15 AM 
To: Chinnih D. Alcantara <chinnih.alcantara@crowe.ph>; Myka Eunice Yumul <mykaeunice.yumul@crowe.ph> 
Subject: Fw: Your BIR AFS eSubmission uploads were received 
 
 
 
Thanks. 
SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION 
 
 
----- Forwarded Message ----- 
From: eafs@bir.gov.ph <eafs@bir.gov.ph> 
To: "sinceresec.corp@yahoo.com" <sinceresec.corp@yahoo.com> 
Cc: "angelannalagon@gmail.com" <angelannalagon@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 30, 2024 at 01:19:04 AM GMT+8 
Subject: Your BIR AFS eSubmission uploads were received 
 
Hi SINCERE SECURITIES CORPORATION, 
 
Valid files 

 EAFS000338426TCRTY122023-01.pdf 
 EAFS000338426AFSTY122023.pdf 
 EAFS000338426ITRTY122023.pdf 
 EAFS000338426OTHTY122023.pdf 
 EAFS000338426RPTTY122023.pdf 

 
Invalid file 

 <None> 

 
Transaction Code: AFS-0-433WPVPM0N2X4VVR3QYZNSV2Z0NV3RYQ1P 
Submission Date/Time: Apr 30, 2024 01:18 AM 
Company TIN: 000-338-426 
 
Please be reminded that you accepted the terms and conditions for the use of this portal and expressly agree, warrant and certify 
that: 

 The submitted forms, documents and attachments are complete, truthful and correct based on the personal knowledge and 
the same are from authentic records; 

 The submission is without prejudice to the right of the BIR to require additional document, if any, for completion and 
verification purposes; 

 The hard copies of the documents submitted through this facility shall be submitted when required by the BIR in the 
event of audit/investigation and/or for any other legal purpose. 

 
This is a system-generated e-mail. Please do not reply. 























Teresita L. Ocampo

VP - Treasurer 201-202-327










